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Introduction 
 
My name is Peter John McHugh.  
 
My uncle, Maurice McHugh, was an Australian 
Pilot Officer flying a Short Stirling Bomber with 
620 squadron of the Royal Air Force in WW2.  
 

 plane was shot down by flak and he 
was killed in Holland on the 20 September 1944 
while flying a resupply mission to British troops 
near Arnhem in the failed campaign called 
Operation Market Garden more commonly 

 
 
Maurice  was  21  years  old  and  one  of  only  13  
Australians killed in this tragic and futile battle 
to liberate Holland.  
 
Like many families during the war it created a 
great deal of anguish not knowing precisely 
what happened to Maurice in a country so far 
away from home.  
 
Compelling original documents that I have 
recently unearthed on the internet together 
with a visit to Holland in 2014 to meet some of 
the surviving eye witnesses has enabled me to 
finally piece together what exactly happened to 
Maurice and his aircrew 70 years ago and about 
his extraordinary feats of bravery. 
 
This is my story  
 
 
 
 

 
February 2015. 
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His early life. 
 
Maurice McHugh was born in St Kilda, a suburb of 
Melbourne  on  9  July  1923.   He  was  one  of  four  
children to Augustus and Annie May McHugh. He 
had two older sisters  Nancy (1919)  and Kathleen 
(1921) as well as a younger brother John (1925).  
 

 
Augustus and Annie May McHugh  wedding day 1918 

 
 father, Augustus McHugh, worked as a 

signalman for the Victorian Railways and moved 
about State before finally settling in Preston in a 
newly built family home at 34 Breffna Street in 
1942 where they stayed for the reminder of their 
lives. 
 

 
The McHugh children - Nancy, Kathleen, Maurice and John at 

Ballarat gardens (circa 1927) 

Maurice was educated at South Preston Primary 
School and Northcote Boys High school. 
 

 
McHugh family (circa 1937)  standing from left Kathleen, 

Augustus, Maurice  sitting Nancy and John. 
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Brothers - John (on bike) and Maurice 

Maurice  had  a  girlfriend  in  1941,  Dumell  
McDonald, who also lived nearby in Preston. They 
wrote to each other while he was away in England 
during the war.  Dumell is now 90 years old and 
lives in Queensland. 
 

 
Maurice with Dumell at the Royal Botanic gardens in Melbourne - 

1941 

Dumell kept in touch with the McHugh family long 

1948. 
 

 
Dumell with Maurice, Augustus and Nancy at Breffna St (circa 

1942) 

 

 
My mother and father (John and Roma McHugh) at their wedding 

1948 with best man Norm Green and bridesmaid Dumell 
McDonald 
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Royal Australian Air Force (RAAF). 
 
Maurice joined the Air Force Reserve in October 
1941. He stated his employment on his enlistment 
papers as a law clerk at Rigby & Fielding, 60 Market 
Street in Melbourne.  
 
In  February  1942,  when  he  was  18  years  and  6  
months old Maurice enlisted in the RAAF. His 
service number was 410858. 
 
He began his RAAF training with 4 Initial Training 
School (4 ITS) at Victor Harbour in South Australia. 
 

 
Maurice at 4 ITS - standing centre row third from left 

 
After initial training Maurice progressed to 11 
Elementary Flying School (11 EFTS) at Benalla in 
June 1942 where he learned basic flying skills in 
DH84 tiger moths. 
 

 
11 EFTS - Benalla 

He continued his training at 6 Service Flying 
Training School (6 SFTS) at RAAF Station Mallala, 
South Australia in October 1942 where he flew 
Commonwealth Aircraft Corporation (CAC) 
Wirraway trainers before converting to twin 
engine Avro .  
 

 
RAAF Wirraways 

 
Maurice graduated at Mallala with his wings  and 
the rank of Flight Sergeant on the 5 February 1943. 
 

  
Avro Anson at Mallala 

 
Maurice had a younger brother, John McHugh, 
who was my father. He was also a RAAF pilot but 
travelled to Canada as part of the Empire Training 
Scheme in 1944. 
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Brothers, John and Maurice McHugh (with his wings) at 34 Breffna 
St, Preston, circa Feb 1943, before sailing for England. This was the 

last time he saw his family. 

 

Posted to the Royal Air Force (RAF) in 
England. 
 

 RAAF records show he embarked from 
Melbourne for England on the 6 March 1943 and 
arrived at Halifax on the 19 April 1943. 
 
In England his Air Force record lists a series of 
postings to training courses including 15 Advanced 
Flying Unit (15 AFU), 81 Operational Training 
School (81 OTU), then conversion to heavy 
bombers and glider towing operations including 
1665  Heavy  Conversion  Unit  (1665  HCU)  at  
Tilstock in Shropshire. 

 
Flight Sergeant Maurice McHugh 

 
 record received a slight blemish in July 

1943 for the somewhat minor transgression of 

the camp contrary to   and 
he received a severe reprimand. The next day he 
was in trouble again for insolence to Flight 
Lieutenant Butcher, but with no further action 
taken. 
 
Maurice  also  got  into  trouble  in  May  1944  for  
flying too low over the airfield. He was flying an 
aircraft with a horsa glider in tow across the 
middle of the airfield at about a 100 feet above the 
ground.  I wonder if he buzzed the control tower 
too? 
 
On completion of his training, on D-Day, 6 June 
1944 Maurice and his aircrew were posted to 620 
Squadron based in RAF Fairford, Gloucestershire 
flying a Short Stirling Bomber.  
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The Short Stirling was the first four-engine British 
heavy  bomber  of  the  Second  World  War.  It  
entered service in early 1941 but had a relatively 
brief  operational  career  as  a  bomber,  being  
relegated  to  second  line  duties  from  late  1943,  
when other more capable four-engine RAF 
bombers, specifically the Handley Page Halifax and 
Avro Lancaster, took over the strategic bombing of 
Germany. 
 
The  Short  Stirling  was  used  for  mining  German  
port areas and fulfilled a major role as a glider tug 
and supply aircraft during the allied invasion of 
Europe in 1944 1945.  
 
Details for Short Stirling Bomber Mk 1V 
 
Length: 87ft 3in (26.58m) 
Wingspan: 99ft 1in (30.19m) 
Height: 22ft 9in (6.93m) 
Empty Weight: 46,900 lb (21,274 kg) 
Take Off Weight: 70,000 lb (31,752 kg) 
Maximum Speed: 270mph (435kmh) 
Cruising Speed: 200mph (323kmh) 
Ceiling: 17,500ft (5,332m) 
Range: 2,010 miles (3,242km) with 

3,500lb (1,589kg) bombload 
Power plant: Four Bristol Hercules XVIs of 

1,650hp each 
Propellers Three-bladed metal fully 

feathering propeller 
Payload: 
Crew (6): 

14,000lbs (6,356kg) 
Pilot, navigator, flight engineer, 
bomb aimer, wireless operator, 
rear gunner. 

Defensive 
Armament: 

2 x .303 Browning machine 
guns in tail turret. 

 
 
 
 

 
Short Stirling Bomber Mk 1V 

 
Dona ferentes adsumus 

(Translation: "We are coming bringing gifts") 

 
In  
Action with Airborne Forces  account 
from  Flight Engineer, Sergeant David 
Evans in relation to D-Day  -Day 
we were awakened at Tilstock to be told that the 
invasion of Europe had started, and that we were 
posted to Fairford. We had only a slept an hour or 
two, after landing from a long cross- country flight 
the night before. Although tired and bleary eyed, 
we had a terrific feeling of elation, for our chance 
had come at last to pit our wits against the enemy. 
We got our clearance from Tilstock arranged in 
double time, and were on our way south and 

 
 
 

 
A page of Flight Sgt Evans log book for June 1944 
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Maurice survived D-Day flying operations with 620 
Squadron dropping paratroopers of the 6th 
Airborne Division near Caen as part of Operation 
Tonga.  
 

 
Pilot Officer, Maurice McHugh  England - date unknown 

 
Maurice resigned from the Royal Australian Air 
Force  (RAAF)  on  7  May  1944  to  take  up  a  
commission as a Pilot Officer with the Royal Air 
Force (RAF). I am puzzled why this was necessary 
and why as an Australian 
Officer.  Maybe it was just the times. I noticed that 
on his enlistment papers in 1942 he declared 

option to . 
 
According to another account from Sgt Evans, 
once Maurice became an officer he left the other 
crew members for  the officers'  mess,  where one 
evening at a social gathering he met Air Vice-
Marshal Hollinghurst, who was in command of 38 
Group. On this occasion, he invited the AOC to fly 
with them when we were next operational. Soon 
after they had completed their pre-flight checks, 
Air Vice-Marshal Hollinghurst arrived at the 

dispersal point, in a staff car, accompanied by the 
Station Commander. The crew formed a line and 
stood to attention as Maurice introduced each of 
in  turn.  The  AOC  made  it  clear  that  once  in  the  
aircraft the pilot would be in command and that 
they were to take no notice of their VIP passenger. 
He sat in the second pilot's seat and it was a very 
uneventful but successful operation. He must also 
have been pleased, because he flew with Maurice 
and his crew again later in August. On this later 
occasion they were diverted to another airfield on 
their return where he joined them in the mess for 
bacon and eggs, causing a hullabaloo amongst the 

 The diversion, to which 
David Evans referred, was early in the morning of 
3 August 1944, as forty out of sixty-five aircraft 
from 38 Group landed away, mostly at airfields in 
West Wales. Out of twenty-two Fairford  
returning from operations, sixteen went to either 
Brawdy in Pembrokeshire or Fairwood Common 
(now Swansea Airport) on the Gower peninsula.  
 
 
 

 
Inside a Short Stirling Bomber preparing for take-off  painting by 

famed English war artist Dame Laura Knight  
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According to Sgt Evans log book, Maurice and his 
crew went on to fly about 25 secret night missions 
between June and September 1944 to resupply 
allied forces, special operations and the French 
resistance.  
 
 

 
In England with other pilots  Maurice standing on right 
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Operation Market Garden  A Bridge 
Too Far . 
 
In September 1944 the allies under the command 
of Field Marshal General Montgomery mounted 
an  ill-fated  campaign  to  capture  seven  strategic  
bridges across Holland and enter Germany in a 
battle more commonly referred to as 
Too Far    
 
Montgomery wanted to circumvent the northern 
end of the Siegfried Line and this required the 
operation  to  seize  the  bridges  across  the  Maas  
(Meuse  River)  and  two  arms  of  the  Rhine  (the  
Waal and the Lower Rhine) as well as several 
smaller canals and tributaries. Crossing the Lower 
Rhine at Arnhem would allow the Allies to encircle 
Germany's industrial heartland in the Ruhr from 
the north.  
 
Operation Market Garden made large-scale use of 
airborne forces, whose tactical objectives were to 
secure the bridges and allow a rapid advance by 
British armoured units into Northern Germany. 
 
Several bridges between Eindhoven and Nijmegen 
were captured at the beginning of the operation 
but General Horrocks' XXX Corps ground force 
advance was delayed by the demolition of a bridge 
over the Wilhelmina Canal, an extremely 
overstretched supply line at Son, and failure to 
capture the main road bridge over the river Waal 
before 20 September.  
 
At Arnhem, the British 1st Airborne Division 
encountered far stronger resistance than 
anticipated. In the ensuing battle, only a small 
force managed to hold one end of the Arnhem 
road bridge and after the ground forces failed to 
relieve them, they were overrun on 21 September.  
 
The rest of the division, trapped in a small pocket 
west of the bridge at Oosterbeek had to be 
evacuated on 25 September. The failure of 
Operation Market Garden ended allied 
expectations of finishing the war by Christmas 
1944. 

                                                 
1 
Group flew 628 sorties to the Arnhem / Oosterbeek area. Of these, 89 
aircraft did not return. 

It was however the most ambitious airborne 
operation ever carried out and its staggering scale 
can be judged by the following figures: 
 

 Number of troops dropped by 
parachute 

20190 

 Number of troops landed by 
glider  

13781 

 Number of  gliders  2613 
 Number of sorties flown by 

troop carrier aircraft 
(including glider towing and 
re-supply) 1   

5067 

 Aircraft in support roles  4771 
 Tonnes of supplies dropped  2585  

 
Over the intervening years, much has been written 
about the wisdom of this operation and the 
controversy surrounding its overall failure. But the 
operation certainly was a bold one, not least 
because of the sheer scale of the airborne 
component which was more than double the 
numbers delivered by air into Normandy on D-Day 
in June 1944.  
 
Perhaps its greatest weakness was that it was also 
an invasion plan was very hastily put together with 
only a week between its approval and execution, 
unlike  D-Day  that  took  over  a  year  to  plan  and  
organise. Or, maybe important factors such as the 
presence  of  the  9th and 10th SS German Panzer 
Division near Arnhem that were being refitted and 
which had been reported by the Dutch Resistance 
were overlooked or discounted.  
 
But everything always seems inevitable in 
hindsight. 
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Flight plans for Arnhem invasion - 17 September 1944.  
620 Squadron flew the northern route from Fairford. 

 
On the first day of the Operation Market Garden, 
Sunday 17 September 1944, thirty eight aircraft 
took off from RAF Fairford in Gloucestershire flying 
along the northern route to Arnhem carrying 1 
Parachute Brigade and 1 Air Landing Brigade. 
 

 
Short Stirling RAF Fairford preparing for 

Operation Market Garden  Sunday 17 September 1944 
 
Maurice and his crew of five took off at 10.50 hrs 
in their Short Stirling Bomber (L J-946) towing an 
airspeed horsa glider loaded with 12 soldiers, a 
jeep and trailer carrying mortars and ammunition 
to  the  drop  zone  near  Arnhem.  There  was  very  
little enemy opposition on the opening day of 
Operation Market Garden and his aircraft 
returned safely to Fairford at 15.30 hrs. 
 

 
Short Stirling towing a horsa Glider at RAF Fairford 

 
On the day of invasion, thousands of allied aircraft 
converged near London before making their way 
across the English Channel to Holland. The stream 
of bombers, gliders, transport planes and fighter 
escorts  stretched for  over 150 km and was 5 km 
wide. It must have been quite a sight. 
 
The objective of the soldiers in the horsa glider 
was to move quickly after landing to capture the 
bridge over the lower Rhine River at Arnhem. The 
landing zone was nearly 12 km west of the bridge 
and fierce fighting over subsequent days meant 
these  troops  never  got  to  Arnhem  but  were  
surrounded by well organised German panzer 
tanks at the village of Oosterbeek. 
 
 

 
British airspeed horsa glider landing at the drop zone near Arnhem 

Over the succeeding days Maurice and his crew 
flew missions to drop supplies to allied troops on 
the ground near Arnhem. Sadly, because of the 
intense house-to-house fighting and the rapidly 
shrinking British perimeter compounded by poor 
radio communications most of these supplies fell 
into enemy hands. 
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A load of small supply crates dropped near Arnhem from a 

formation of RAF Short Stirling on Tuesday 19th as flak explodes. 

 
The resupply flights into Arnhem were hampered 
for several days by cloud cover in England, which 
forced the postponement of follow-on drops, 
including Sosabowski's Polish paratroopers, 
leaving the British paratroopers at Arnhem 
especially short of water, ammunition, and much 
needed reinforcements 
 

Shot down and killed - 20 September 
1944. 
 
On the fourth day of the battle, Wednesday 20 
September 1944, there was fierce fighting around 
the Arnhem Bridge and also further west around 
the village of Oosterbeek.  
 
At  10am  the  crews  at  RAF  Fairford  attended  a  
briefing for their next supply operation. By this 
time, news had been received that the initial 
target drop zone, (DZ- V) had fallen into enemy 
hands. The drops were therefore made to a new 
location at Oosterbeek within the shrinking British 
perimeter.  
 
 

British 1st Airborne soldiers using parachutes to signal to allied 
supply aircraft from the grounds of Division HQ at the Hartenstein 

Hotel in Oosterbeek, Netherlands, Sep 1944 

Later in the morning, it was decided to postpone 
the departure time at Fairford by two hours, so it 
was not until 1440 hrs that the first of seventeen 
aircraft from 620 squadron took off along the 
southern route to Holland. This new information 
about the delay in departure was not adequately 
communicated so planned fighter cover for the 
mission did not rendezvous as planned. 
 
Maurice once again took off in his Short Stirling 
bomber, LK-548 (fuselage code QS-Y) with a crew 
of seven including two British army dispatchers 
from Fairford at 14.45 pm to resupply beleaguered 
British paratroopers on the ground at Oosterbeek 
that were being slowly encircled by German 
panzer tanks.  
 
It never returned. 
 
Official reports show that flying low and 
slow at about on the run into the drop zone the 
plane was hit by flak and incendiary bullets and the 
starboard aileron caught fire but the crew 
continued bravely on their mission.  
 
An account by the flight engineer Sgt David Evans 
said approached Arnhem from the 
southerly direction the flak appeared much heavier 
than the previous day. Incendiary bullets tore into 
the trailing edge of the starboard edge and set it 
alight and from my position in the astrodome I 
could see the flames   
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Later Sgt Evans said in his account later I 
was momentarily blinded by dust as a cannon shell 
pierced the wooden frame of the astrodome within 
an inch of my nose. I was shocked that my position 
was straddled by cannon fire which made very 
neat holes about 18 inches apart in the floor of the 
compartment  attachment 12. 
 

German ground troops firing at low flying RAF supply aircraft 
 
After successfully dropping their supplies and 
banking out to return to England the plane was 
once again hit, this time by an 88mm shell that 
went through the main petrol tank in the 
starboard wing but fortunately without exploding. 
But this  was soon followed by a fountain of  high 
octane fuel that became a roaring jet of fire as the 
wing and inside the fuselage was ablaze.  
 

 
A formidable weapon - German 88mm gun near Arnhem 

Struggling to maintain height, Maurice then gave 
the order to abandon the aircraft by which time 
the plane had dropped to about 800- and 
three airmen (Evans, Gasgoyne and Hume) 
managed to parachute out. They sustained injuries 
from the jump with two being knocked 

unconscious. They made their way back to England 
via Brussels with the help of the Dutch Resistance 
within a few days of the crash. 
 
Significantly, it is reported by the navigator Flight 
Sergeant Hume, that Maurice refused a parachute 
that was offered to him and stayed valiantly with 
the controls of the stricken plane to allow others 
of his crew to escape. 
 
Maurice continued to fly the burning plane 
towards home for another 50 km before crashing 
into a Dutch farm at Vorstenbosch. Maurice and 
the rest of the crew were killed.  
 
On their return to England the three survivors 
made official witness statements. These are held 
in the Australian National Archives and confirm 
the story that Maurice refused a parachute when 
it was offered to him and stayed with the plane to 
allow his aircrew to bail out  attachment 1. 
 
Two of the s
sent to Arnhem on 20 September failed to return 
and many others limped back seriously damaged.  
 
By the evening of 20 September 1944, the Battle 
of the Arnhem Bridge was all but lost. 
 
Of the 34000 British, American and Polish airborne 
troops landed in Operation Market Garden about 
half ended up being either killed, wounded or 
captured. 
 
Maurice was one of 13 Australian airmen.  
 
He was only 21 years old. 
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.  
 
In 2004 I was surprised to discover that 
war  service  medals  had  never  been  collected  or  
sent to his family after the war. I subsequently 
wrote to the Directorate of Honours and Awards 
in Canberra and retrieved them as his surviving 
next  of  kin.  Incredibly  they  had  lain  in  dusty  
storage for nearly 60 years and they are now a 
treasured family possession. The ribbons have 
been replaced and the medals properly mounted 
and I took them to his grave in the Netherlands in 
2014. 
 

 
1939-45 Star, France & Germany Star, Defence Medal, War Medal 

1939-45, Australian Service Medal. 2 

 
  

                                                 
2 - In 2012 the British Government introduced a Bomber Command Clasp 
to go with the 1939-45 star. Disappointingly, I learned that Maurice is 

ineligible for the clasp because 620 Squadron was deemed a transport 
squadron part of 38 group during the period of his service. 
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Finding out what happened. 
 
I have discovered a great deal about my uncle 
during the last few years from the internet as 
official WW2 documents have become 
progressively scanned and made available online.  
 
Like many families during the war it created a 
great deal of anguish not knowing exactly what 
happened to their son in a country so far away 
from home. 
 
The major breakthrough came in early 2014 when 
I was able to track down the coordinates of the 
crash site using a German internet page 
cataloguing lost WW2 aircraft.   
 
http://www.lostaircraft.com/database.php?e=30
119&mode=viewentry 
 

 
The red dot at the centre of the map is near the location of the 

crash. 

I subsequently learned from local amateur 
historians in Holland and the archived documents 
that his aircraft was hit by flak and caught fire and 
crashed 7pm (local time) in a field in front of the 
house of Mr Verhoeven, Meuwelweg 3, near 
Vorstenbosch.   
 
I wrote a letter  in July 2014 to the address 
that I had identified off the internet map with a 
copy translated into Dutch
reply but to my amazement I was called at home 
in Australia  about two weeks later  by the owner 
Mr William van der Donk.  
 
Mr van der Donk told me how the internet map 
was slightly incorrect and that the real crash site 
was just around the corner from his home. He also 
told me how he and the people in nearby village of 
Vorstenbosch knew all about Maurice and that 

there were even some eye witnesses from the 
Verhoeven family that lived in the house in 1944 
that were still alive that would love to meet me. 
 
William sent me two Dutch newspaper articles and 
photos from December 1977 that the Verhoeven 
family had kept from when the wreckage was 
recovered from their farm.  The field was being 
levelled for agricultural purposes and the Royal 
Dutch Air Force had been called to dispose of some 
remaining unexploded ordinance and they took 
the bent propeller to the local airbase Volkel. 
  

 
December 1977  One of the Dutch newspaper articles about the 

recovery of wreckage - The women with the head scarf is Mrs Door 
Verhoeven who witnessed the plane crash along with her children 

 attachment 13. 

 

 
Recovery of wreckage by Dutch authorities and disposal of 

unexploded ordinance  December 1977 
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The records. 
 
There were eight men on board the Short Stirling 
Bomber aircraft when it left RAF Fairford in 
England  at  14.45pm  on  20  September  1944  for  
another resupply mission to Arnhem.  
 
It failed to return and they were listed as missing. 
 
Five men were killed in the crash around 7 pm local 
time near the small Dutch village of Vorstenbosch 
including: 
 

1. Pilot Officer, Maurice McHugh  
2. Wireless Operator - Flight Sergeant, Eric 

Arthur Bradshaw (pictured)  
3. Rear Gunner- Sergeant, Thomas Vickers,  
4. Dispatcher - Lance Corporal, John Waring 
5. Dispatcher  Driver, Ernest Victor 

Heckford.  
 
Those killed were initially buried in the Nistelrode 
General Cemetery but were reinterred in a 
communal grave at the Groesbeek Canadian War 
Cemetery after the war in 1949.  Maurice was the 
only Australian on-board the aircraft and all others 
were British. 
 
Three men parachuted out safely and evaded 
capture including: 
 

1. Navigator - Flight Sergeant, John (Jock) 
Hume. 

2. Flight Engineer  Sergeant, David Evans 
(pictured). 

3. Bomb  Aimer  -  Flight  Sergeant,  Nicholas 
Gasgoyne. 

 
The plane crashed in occupied enemy territory and 
the German troops searched for the parachutists.  
 
The local Dutch resistance hid the injured airmen 
in a local church. 
 

 
Eric Bradshaw and David Evans 

 
The three men who managed to parachute out 
evaded capture with the help of the local Dutch 
resistance and returned to England via Brussels 
only a few days later and made official statements 
on Sunday 24 September 1944 at their home base 
at RAF Fairford . 
 
Copies of the original statements made by the 
three survivors are held in the Australian National 
Archives (ref A705, 166/26/594)  attachment 1. 
 
Also, a collated summary from the Australian War 
Memorial is below.  
 
Sgt Evans, Flight Sergeant Hume and Flight 
Sergeant Gasgoyne evaded capture.  
 
In a report Flight Sergeant Hume stated: "I was the 
first to bail out at approx. 1000 feet. My chute 
opened and I saw the aircraft strike the ground at 
a 45 degree angle. I saw two other chutes in the 
air, and Dutch eye witnesses said only three chutes 
were seen. Pilot Officer McHugh refused a chute 
which was offered to him."  
 
Flight Sergeant Evans in his report stated: "I was 
the Flight Engineer on Stirling LK548 on an 
operational flight to Arnhem. On the appropriate 
drop zone intense ack-ack was encountered at a 
height of about 1500 feet. The starboard aileron 
was set alight, but Pilot Officer McHugh kept a 
straight course and did his utmost to drop the 
supplies in the correct area and was successful. 
During the whole time there was intense flak. After 
dropping the supplies, the Captain put the aircraft 
into a climb turning back at the same time. The 
aileron was still burning, and as soon as the 



P a g e | 15 
 

aircraft had turned around, the petrol tank 
immediately forward of the aileron received a 
direct hit, and the whole wing tip burst into flames. 
I advised Pilot Officer McHugh as to the condition 
of  the aircraft,  and he gave the abandon order.  I  
put on a chute and took off my helmet. By now the 
whole starboard wing was alight, also the centre 
section, and the Captain was struggling hard to 
maintain height which was impossible. I was the 
second to leave the aircraft, and as I jumped I 
heard several explosions. The Navigator was first 
out and I followed, then the Air Bomber. I was 
knocked unconscious by the opening of the chute, 
and did not see the aircraft crash. I landed about 3 
miles  North  of  Uden,  and  met  the  other  two.  I  
believe the other three were in the aircraft when it 
crashed."  
Ref: Storr, Allan (ed.). (2006). Page 260. 
http://www.awm.gov.au/catalogue/research_cen
tre/pdf/rc09125z008_1.pdf. 
 
Furthermore, in his book  in Action with 
Airborne Fo by Dennis Williams published in 
2008, the flight engineer, Sergeant David Evans 
gives  a  slightly  more  detailed  account  of  what  
happened on 20 September 1944 and of his 
subsequent escape back to England with the other 
airmen. Importantly, even after the passage of 64 
years it is consistent with his original 1944 
statement  attachment 12. 
 
According to Sgt Evans  family the injuries he 
sustained when parachuting out of the plane was 
the end of his war service in the RAF. He remained 
very proud of his contribution and he visited 
Holland and the crash site several times after the 
war but sadly died in 2014.   
 
The Australian National Archives also show that 
the McHugh family received a number of letters 
and telegrams from authorities advising of the 
crash but did not confirm if Maurice was dead for 
some time  attachments. 
 
Because Maurice was shot down behind enemy 
lines he was initially listed as missing. 
 
However, one of the survivors of the crash, the 
Bomb  Aimer,  Nick  Gasgoyne  deserves  a  special  
mention.  He  wrote  to  the  family  soon  after  the  
crash and told of what happened. Sadly this letter 

is  missing  but  the  contents  of  his  letter  were  
requoted when my grandmother Annie May 
McHugh  wrote  to  the  Air  Force  on  6  May  1945  
trying to find out what happened to Maurice. She 
uses the words from - 
Maurice made his turn with the calm assurance of 

a veteran and we dropped our load accurately but 
on coming out were hit in several places and 
caught fire. The fire was pretty fierce and we had 
no hope of putting it out so the order to abandon 
the aircraft, in the same steady voice was given. 
Three of the crew managed to make it  myself 

his attempt to keep the plane in the air until the 
remainder were out stayed with it till it hit the 

struggling to 
  attachment 7. 

 
In February 1945 some further details of the crash 
were made available to the family from the air 
force including part of the statement for the 
navigator, Flight Sergeant 

 -
attachment 4. 
 
Sadly, it took nearly nine more months of 
uncertainty until 15 June 1945 for the family to 
receive official confirmation that Maurice was 
presumed dead  attachment 9. 
 
Later in March 1950 the family received official 
advice that Maurice had been reburied at 
Canadian  War  Cemetery  at  Groesbeek  on  the  
Dutch/German border  attachment 11. 
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Nick and Dorothy Gasgoyne - wedding 1943 

Nick Gascoyne kept in touch with the family after 
the war and in one of his final letters to the family 
in 1999 he wrote that Maurice 
the plane to ensure that it did not come down in an 
area  
 
A 
other RAAF airmen killed during Operation Market 
Garden is mounted in the cafe area of the 
Hartenstein Hotel at Oosterbeek which houses the 
Airborne Museum. This was the HQ of the British 
paratroops during the battle.   
 

 
Plaque in Arnhem. - Presented by 23 Squadron (city of Brisbane in 

1998 
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Planning my visit the Netherlands  
2014. 
 
After uncovering all this new information about 
Maurice from the internet I wrote to the 
Australian Foreign Minister, The Hon. Julie Bishop 
in July 2014 to find out if Australia was being 
represented at the 70th anniversary 
commemorations in the Netherlands in 
September 2014.  
 
I  firmly  believed  that  Australia  should  be  
recognised for its small but significant 
contribution. I also expected that the 
governments of Britain, America, Netherlands and 
Poland would have official representations. I also 
imagined  a  large  number  of  veterans  and  their  
families would also make the pilgrimage because 
many were 
would most likely be their last visit. 
 
I eventually received a reply in late August 2014 
from the Minister for Veterans Affairs via my local 
Federal Member of Parliament, Darren Chester, 
supporting my trip by giving me the contact details 
for the Australian Defence attaché in London, 
Brigadier Bill Sowry.  Darren also gave me an 
Australian flag to take with me on my trip that  I  
later gave to the school in Vorstenbosch. 
 
I immediately made email contact with Bill Sowry 
and he advised that he had already seen my 
correspondence to the Minister as well as visited 
the crash site to make contact with the current 
owners  of  the  house  and  some  of  the  eye  
witnesses. He offered to arrange a small gathering 
and  service  with  a  few  people  on  Friday  19  
September (one day short of the 70 th anniversary). 
After  a  bit  of  detective  work  he  also  arranged  
access to the local Dutch Airbase Volkel to look at 
the  small  museum  that  housed  some  of  the  
wreckage. 
 
Knowing I was meeting the owners of the land 
where the plane crashed I had a brass 
commemoration plaque made up at home in 
Australia to take with me. I hoped that it could be 
mounted nearby the crash site. 
 

I was also pleased to learn that Brigadier Bill Sowry 
had been invited to attend the official 
commemorations  in  Arnhem.  I  thought  it  
important that Australia be represented and that 
an Australian military uniform be visible.  At the 
time of my travel the relations between Australia 
and the Netherlands were particularly strong over 
the recovery of the wreckage a Malaysian airline 
(MH17) that had been shot over the Ukraine only 
a month or so earlier by Russian separatists. This 
incident had created international outrage and 
many Dutch and Australian passengers had been 
killed.  Bill had been heavily involved in 
coordinating the international recovery program. 
 
Meanwhile through a colleague at work I made 
contact with Nick McCallum from Channel 7 news 
in Melbourne who wanted to do a story on my visit 
to Holland and Maurice.  Nick came to my 
Traralgon office a week before I departed and a 
story was aired on the national TV news that 
evening. 
 
While all this trip planning was going on I also 
tracked down an address for  girlfriend 
in 1941, Dumell MacDonald, who was 90 years old 
and lived in Queensland. We had several 
telephone conversations and she sent me some 
old photos she had kept. 
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70th Anniversary commemorations  
September 2014. 
 
For convenience of travel I signed up with a British 
tour group for the 70th anniversary 
commemorations at Arnhem and met a number of 
original veterans and their families.  
 
 

 
A British veteran of Operation Market Garden, Arthur Bailey, 6th 

Airborne at the Arnhem Bridge - "A Bridge Too Far."  

The people I met on the tour were wonderful and 
very interested and surprised about the Australian 
connection to Operation Market Garden. 

 

 
The Scottish paras on the tour at the Arnhem Bridge 

 
Nick McCallum from Channel 7 news also made a 
special trip over from Australia to Holland to cover 

 story. We met in Amsterdam and went 
to both Groesbeek and Vorstenbosch together. 
 

 
A large convoy of historic military vehicles at the Grave Bridge 

converging on Arnhem for the 70th anniversary commemorations. 
 Sept 2014 

 

 
The Grave Bridge over the Maas River in 1944 captured by the 

American 82nd Airborne Division 

 

 
Parachute jump re-enactment at near Arnhem - Sept 2014 
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Visit to Groesbeek  Thursday 18 
September 2014 
 

grave at the Canadian War Cemetery at Groesbeek 
in the eastern Netherlands near the German 
border. I took his medals and his wings and left a 
small Australian flag.  The magnificently 
maintained cemetery looks over the peaceful 
Dutch countryside and contains over 3500 graves 
of mainly Canadian and British soldiers.   
 

 
at Groesbeek with his medals, wings and a small 

Australian flag 

After the war in 1949 body was 
reinterred from Nistelrode and I believe that he is 
the only Australian airmen buried at Groesbeek. 
He is buried in a communal grave alongside his 
aircrew, Eric Bradshaw, Thomas Vickers and John 
Waring. One of the army dispatchers, Earnest 
H never  found  and  he  is  
commemorated  on  the  memorial  panel.   There  
were local some stories in Vorstenbosch of 
another body dressed in a khaki uniform being 
found 200m from the crash site but there are no 
official records to substantiate this. 
 
While being obviously focused on my uncle 
Maurice it  was also sobering to reflect  that  each 
one of these graves has a family and a story. 
 

 
Maurice is buried in a communal grave at Groesbeek alongside the 

other airmen from the plane. Grave XII. C. 9-12. 

Visit to Vorstenbosch  Friday 19 
September 2014. 
 
Friday 19 September (one day short of the 70th 
anniversary of the crash ) was 
one that changed my life and one I will remember 
forever. 
 
I was picked up at the Airborne Museum 
Hartenstein Hotel  in Oosterbeek by the 

Australian defence attaché, Brigadier Bill Sowry. 
He had flown over from London especially to take 
me to Vorstenbosch and lead a small service. 
 

 
The British divisional HQ at the Hartenstein Hotel in Oosterbeek as 
it is today. This was the intended drop target for Maurice on the 

20 September 1944 - the day he was shot down 

I was expecting to meet about 6-8 people but was 
shocked when about 50 or so turned up. Most of 
the small village of Vorstenbosch including the 
Deputy Mayor, Rien Wijdeven and the 
commander of the local Dutch air force base, Chief 
Warrant Officer Gerard Veenhuis were there to 
greet me. 
 

 
A large group had gathered to meet me 
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Now to the eye witnesses. 
 
Prior to my visit I understood there were only two 
surviving eye witnesses 
plane in 1944 but it turned out there were more I 

 
 

The Verhoeven family. 
 
Sisters Betsie (age 75), Miet (age 80), Mien (aged 
79)  and  Tonnie  (age  77)  were  young  girls  at  the  
time on the 20 September 1944 and told me how 
they were out doing laundry with their mother 
(Theodora). The laundry was laid out to whiten in 
what they termed a bleachfield  and they all 
watched mesmerised as the burning plane 
approached their house from the north at about 
30 metres above the ground with its left wing on 
fire. They said the plane was flying very low, made 
a turn then crashed down in the field near the 
house. Their father Bertus was in the farm building 
feeding the animals at the time.  
 

 
Betsie, Toon, Miet Verhoeven (2014) 

 

 
Verhoeven family (circa 1961) 

I was also told by, Toon (age 82), how he ran to the 
burning wreckage with his mother (Theodora or 
Door) to try rescue my uncle and the crew but also 
had to withdraw because of the heat and 
exploding ammunition. 
 

 
Painting of the Verhoeven family home at Meuwelweg 3 

 
As a result of the crash, cracks appeared in the 
walls  of  the  Verhoeven  farmhouse  and  several  
windows were broken. The insurance company 
subsequently paid 1400 guiders to compensate for 
the damage. 
 
The Verhoeven family were also present when the 
wreckage was recovered in 1977. They gave me 
copies of the newspaper articles from the time.  
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Later, while in Oosterbeek on Sunday morning 
attending an outdoor church service at the 
Airborne  Cemetery,  Betsie  and  her  son,  Marcel  
Steenbeck made a special trip to present me with 
a large gear wheel from  plane that 
Marcel  had recovered from the buried wreckage 
in 1977.    
 

 
Local school children from Oosterbeek lay flowers at each grave at 

the airborne cemetery every September. 

 

 
With Betsie and her son Marcel at the airborne cemetery 

Oosterbeek (2014) 

The Verhoeven family  sat  down after  my visit  to 
discuss what they recalled and produced a 
combined witness statement - attachment 15. 
 

The Smolenaer brothers. 
 
The Smolenaer brothers, Jan (age 83) and Toin 
(age 82) were also eye witnesses and told me how 
they were working the field as young boys with 
their stepfather digging potatoes and saw the 
plane crash only a few hundred meters from 
where they were standing. They ran to the crashed 

plane but had to lie in a ditch for over an hour 
while the wreckage burned and the ammunition 
exploded. They said that German troops chased 
them away as they searched for the three airmen 
that had parachuted out. 
 

 
Toin and Jan Smolenaer (circa 1943) 

Significantly, from their vantage point they saw 
Maurice in the cockpit as he pulled back on the 
controls of the plane and it skipped over the 
Verhoeven house, lost airspeed and crashed into 
the field about 100m on the other side.  
 
They also believe that Maurice was possibly trying 

the field. 
 
They were both adamant it was a very brave thing 
to do and that if the plane had hit the house it 
would have almost certainly killed the entire 
Verhoeven family of seven. 
 
This account by the two Smolenaer brothers of the 
aircraft pulling up at the last minute to avoid the 
Verhoeven house and then hitting the ground hard 
and catching fire is consistent with the 1944 
statement of the navigator, Jock Hume, who said 
that after he pa saw the aircraft 
hit the ground at an angle of forty-five degrees. It 
immediately burst into flames - attachment 1. 
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With Toin and Jan Smolenaer (2014) 

Like the Verhoeven family the two Smolenaer 
bothers sat down together after my visit and made 
a written statement of where they were standing 
and what they witnessed - attachment 16. 
 

 
The Smolenaer family (Jan and Toin  front) 
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The village windmill. 
 
I was very moved because I was told that Maurice 
and the other airmen have been adopted  by the 
village of Vorstenbosch. Jan Smolenaer who 
witnessed the crash as a young boy is the 
custodian of the historic windmill and puts it into 

each  year  in  
September as  a  tribute all  the airmen.  I  was told 

 an old village custom when someone dies in 
the town. 
 

 
Sculpture of the miller outside Vorstenbosch windmill  A tribute to 

Toin and Jan Smolenaer  

 
The  village  windmill  is  very  special  to  the  
Smolenaer brothers because their father was hit 

 and the 
bronze sculpture at the front is in honour of him. 
 

 
Vorstenbosch village windmill  circa 1945 

 
Vorstenbosch village windmill in the "mourning position' 

September 2014 
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Local school children. 
 
The local school children arrived on their bikes 
with their  teacher to meet me and present me a 
very special  gift.  It  was a book of  small  paintings 
they  had  done  in  class  on  the  war  and  what  it  
meant to be free. I gave them an Australian flag 
that  I  had  been  given  by  my  local  MP  Darren  
Chester together with a picture of Maurice that 
will now take pride of place in the school.  
 
The children kept referring to my uncle and the 
other  the  airmen  as  their  "liberators".  It's  very  
significant to them and they all knew about it and 
wanted to meet me and thank me.  I  was told by 
their  teacher that  Maurice and the other airmen 
had been adopted  by the school and they study 
them each year. 
 

 
 

 

 
Some of the drawings done by the school children 

 

 
With the local school children, their teacher, the Deputy Mayor, 

commander of the Dutch airbase and Brigadier Bill Sowry. 

 

The ice-skates. 
 
In a quiet moment, the commander of the Dutch 
Air Force, Chief Warrant Officer Gerard Veenhuis 
introduced  me  to  Ties  van  der  Heijden  (age  78).  
Ties asked if I would like some pieces of  
aeroplane. I was gobsmacked  to think that some 
still existed. The pieces of aluminium he gave me 

. 
They were cut into children's skates by his father 
in the winter of 1944-45 and he used them as a 
child.  
 
I was deeply moved by this generous gift and the 
thought that amid all the destruction of war and of 
all the possible uses that valuable metal could be 
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put to around a farm that his father chose to make 
some of it into ice skates for kids to have some fun. 
 
Significantly the winter of 1944-45 was known as 

starved to death after the German troops 
retreated and took everything with them and 
flooded farmland to stop the allied advance so 
people were unable to grow food and were 
reduced to eating tulip bulbs.  
 

 
Ties van der Heijden with the ice-skates his father made him in 

1945 

Sister Emmanuel. 
 
One of the people I met in Vorstenbosch was from 
the  local  church  and  she  told  me  about  Sister  
Emmanuel who with some other nuns took the 
bodies of Maurice and the other airmen from the 
smouldering wreckage to be buried at a small 

they were laid to rest by the nuns who would have 
said a prayer for them. They did this only a few 
hours after the plane crashed. The Smolenaer 
brothers and Verhoeven family saw this happen 

and confirmed this story with me. They also said it 
would have been a very dangerous thing to do in 
September 1944. The area was occupied by 
German soldiers looking for the three airmen that 
had parachuted out and who were being hidden 
by the Dutch resistance in a nearby church. There 
was also a strict night curfew in place. Sister 
Emmanuel looks pretty formidable ... I certainly 
wouldn't tangle with her ... so I suppose the 
German soldiers gave her a wide berth too. 
 

 
Sister Emmanuel taken in January 1972. Posing as she would have 

appeared on her bike in 1944. 

The Dutch Resistance. 
 
I was introduced to Professor Harry van Kessel. It 
turned out he was a classmate of Jan Smolenaer. 
His father, Bert was the manager of a local 
cooperative  mill  and  sexton  of  the  St  Lambertus  
church and was responsible for maintenance of its 
buildings and the surrounding graveyard so he had 
an exemption from the 24 hour curfew.  
 

 
Professor Harry Van Kessel whose father Bert was in the Dutch 

resistance (left) with Toin Smolenaer (right). 
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Bert van Kessel with his wife and family after the war.  

Harry, the eldest son standing in the middle. 

Harry  said  his  father  Bert  van  Kessel  was  part  of  
the Dutch resistance that hid navigator Flt Sgt Jock 
Hume and the bomb aimer Flt Sgt Nicholas 
Gascoyne in the church from the Germans.   Bert  
brought them food during their stay and helped 
arranged for them to be smuggled back to England 
via Brussels.  
 
The airmen were attended by doctors while at the 
church. 
 
By this stage, collaborators were being rounded up 
from the area by the Dutch resistance and held at 
the church. Their fate is unknown. 
 

 
St. Lambertus church in Vorstenbosch was built in 1932 and was 

where the allied airmen were hidden. 

Harry said he remembers the airmen as a boy and 
showed  me  some  falsified  identity  papers.   The  
papers were all in Dutch and impossible for me to 
read and he spoke little English. 
 

 
Professor Harry van Kessel pointing to the hiding space in the roof 

of the St. Lambertus church tower where airmen Gascoyne and 
Hume were hidden in September 1944. The room houses the 

bellows for the church organ. 

Meanwhile, the flight engineer, Sgt David Evans 
was rescued by the van Hintum family near 
Nistelrode after he parachuted out. He had been 
knocked unconscious and injured in the jump. He 
was taken next day on the back of a motorbike to 
St Lambertus church in Vorstenbosch to join up 
with his colleagues before returning to England - 
attachment 12. 
 

 
The van Hintum family from Nistelrode were involved in the rescue 

of the flight engineer, Sgt David Evans and his transport to 
Vorstenbosch  attachment 12. 
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Laying a poppy wreath and 
presenting a plaque.  

The Australian defence attaché, Bill Sowry was 
fantastic and looked splendid in his  
uniform. Bill said the airmen's prayer and the ode 
(see inset) as we laid a poppy wreath.   

Purely by coincidence a WW2 Dakota bomber flew 
overhead  as  we  held  the  small  ceremony  at  the  
edge of  the field.  The aircraft  was in Arnhem for  
the 70th anniversary commemorations and was 
practicing parachute drops. A perfect segue. 

 
A small ceremony at the crash site with the Deputy Mayor, Rien 

Wijdeven and Bill Sowry near the crash site 

 

 
With Brigadier Bill Sowry - Australian defence attaché from 

London  overlooking crash site 

The Deputy Mayor laid flowers on behalf of the 
community. 
 

Hugh Brodie was educated at Melbourne High School, and 
then the University of Melbourne, where he gained a B.A. 
(Hons). Prior to World War II he taught at Sale High School 
and then Melbourne High School. He joined the RAAF in 
September 1940, and was sent to Britain, where he trained 
as a navigator. He was posted to 460 Squadron RAAF in 
February 1942 but was subsequently killed whilst on 
operations near Dusseldorf on 3 June, 1942. His poem 'An 
Airman's Prayer' was found among his personal effects after 
his death. 
 
Almighty and all-present Power, 
Short is the prayer I make to Thee, 
I do not ask in battle hour 
For any shield to cover me. 
The vast unalterable way 
From which the stars do not depart 
May not be turned aside to stay 
The bullet flying to my heart. 
I ask no help to strike my foe, 
I seek no petty victory here, 
The enemy I hate, I know 
To Thee is also dear. 
But this I pray, be at my side 
When death is drawing through the sky, 
Almighty God, who also died 
Teach me the way that I should die. 
 
The ode: 
They shall grow not old, as we that are left grow old; 
Age shall not weary them, nor the years condemn. 
At the going down of the sun and in the morning 
We will remember them. 
(Audience responds) We will remember them. 
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Laura van Herpen - from the local municipality of Bernheze 

 

 
School children with the Deputy Mayor and the Australian flag I 

gave the school. 

 

The brass plaque I brought with me from Australia 
was taken on the day by the local Deputy Mayor, 
Rien Wijdeven. He was thrilled and said that the 
occasion had put Vorstenbosch on the map  
attachment 18.  
 
The community subsequently held a special 
ceremony  on  10  December  2014  to  mount  the  
plaque on the wall of the council chambers.  
 
The Mayor, Marieke Moorman also wrote a letter 
of support to the Australian Government for 
Maurice to be considered for a posthumous 
bravery award - attachment 17. 
 

 
Jan Smolenaer with Deputy Mayor Rien Wijdeven  10 December 

2014 

The actions of the council clearly serve to highlight 
that the bravery of allied airmen in WW2 is still 
very significant to people in the Netherlands and 
the crash site of  plane is especially 
important to the community of Vorstenbosch. 
 
 

 
Special meeting at Vorstenbosch - 10 December 2014 
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Jan Smolenaer with the Marieke Moorman, Burgemeester (Mayor) 

of municipality Bernheze at the special ceremony to mount the 
plaque I left in Holland  

Other local people I met. 
 
There were a considerable number of people that 
facilitated my visit to Vorstenbosch.  
 
Apart from those I have already acknowledged Mr 
William van der Donk warrants a special mention. 
I  made  initial  contact  with  him  with  the  

in July 2014 
understanding it to be the crash site. He rang me 
in Australia a few weeks later and became my first 
key contact. It was the breakthrough I needed. It 
turned out his house was wrongly identified in the 
German internet webpage as the location of the 
crash but he helped me identify the correct 
location and arranged the community meeting. 
 

 
With William Van Der Donk, Miet Verhoeven, Gerard Veenhuis. 

Mrs Katja Sanderse and her family now own the 
house at Meulwelweg number 3 where my  
plane crashed.  The old Verhoeven house which 
was built in 1931 has since been demolished and a 
new home built on the site.  
 

Katja helped arranged the school children  visit 
and made her home available for the afternoon 
tea with the local community.  Her kitchen window 
overlooks the crash site and I gave her a photo of 
Maurice. 
 

 
Katja Sanderse and Brigadier Bill Sowry (highly decorated for his 

role in East Timor) 

 

 
With  

 

 
Afternoon tea at Katj  
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The  current  owner  of  the  farmland  where  the  
plane crashed is Mr Jan Timmermans.  He told me 
he appreciates the significance of the site as a local 
war memorial. 
 

 
Betsie and Toon Verhoeven with the current owner of the land 

where the plane crashed - Mr Jan Timmermans (Centre) 
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Airbase Volkel  Typhoon Museum. 
 
Later  in  the  day,  Chief  Warrant  Officer  Gerard  
Veenhuis escorted me to the Royal Dutch Air Force 
base at Volkel which is nearby to view some of the 
wreckage from Maurice  plane.  The airbase 
houses the small typhoon museum which is run by 
volunteers. 
 
About a dozen people from the village came too.  
 
After signing through security at the gate we were 
greeted by a squad of Dutch airmen standing to 
attention  and  saluting  outside  the  front  of  
museum. 
 
Of over 6000 aircraft shot down in Holland in the 
war they have the bent propeller and other pieces 
of the wreckage from his plane on display. They 
were recovered in 1977 when the farmland at the 
crash site was being levelled. 
 

 
Display panel at Typhoon Museum about the crash. A small 

painting (top right) was given to the museum by Sergeant Evans in 
 

I also learned that flight engineer, Sgt David Evans, 
one of the airmen that parachuted out of the 
plane, had been a regular visitor to the museum 

rovided some of the 

material for the display panel in the museum 
including commissioning a painting of the a Short 
Stirling bomber. 
 

 
Survival mirror  LK548 

 

 
A bent propeller blade Short Stirling Bomber 

 
The museum curator, Peter Truren presented me 
with a very special gift. It was part of the main ring 
bearing from the engine of Maurice's Short Stirling 
Bomber.  The  museum  had  polished  it  up  and  
mounted it in a wooden box. In return I gave the 
museum a photo of Maurice to put with the 
propeller and the display panel. 
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Being presented with the main propeller engine bearing from 

 by Peter Truren. 

 

 
Part of the main propeller bearing 

 
The museum curator also gave me several folders 
of  key  documents  relating  to  the  crash  of  my  
uncles plane. Many I had not seen before 
including: 
 

 Photos of other parts of the plane that 
have since been recovered 

 Copies  of  telegrams  to  my  family  in  
Australia about Maurice (also available on 
the national archives) 

 A letter from my grandmother Annie May 
McHugh (dated 6 May 1945) seeking 
information about her son.  

 Correspondence about the recovery of the 
bodies and reinterment to Groesbeck in 
1949. 

 
The day ended in the  mess for some nice 
cold Dutch beer and hot Dutch food. 
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The media coverage. 
 
Nick McCallum from Channel 7 news in Melbourne 
had already made a story about Maurice and my 
pilgrimage before I left for Holland.  
 
He went on to make a special trip to Holland to 
follow  the  story  and  arrived  in  Amsterdam  on  
Thursday afternoon 18 September and left on 
Friday night.  
 
He produced two stories which were aired on 
national TV in Australia, one on the Saturday night 
news 
mark the 70th anniversary of the crash  
attachment DVD 18. 
 
https://au.tv.yahoo.com/sunrise/video/watch/25
086303/remembering-an-aussie-hero/ 
 
Two local Dutch newspapers also covered my visit 

 attachment 14. 
 

 
One of the three local newspaper articles 
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Postscript. 
 
The story of my uncle Maurice continued to 
generate some interest even after I returned to 
Australia.  
 
Amongst the people who made contact with me 
was a favourite secondary school teacher of mine, 
Ralph Sinclair, who 
years but he had seen the story on channel 7 news. 
 

 
My old school teacher - Ralph Sinclair 

I also had a phone call at work from Joyce Sherratt 
from Melbourne. She heard the story on radio 
3AW, where Nick McCullum is an announcer. She 
is 91 years old and told me how she had gone to 
Preston Primary School with Maurice and she had 
later been his girlfriend.  She sent me copies of 
letters he had written to her while he was training 
in Adelaide. We met for lunch and I was delighted 
with her warmth and generosity. 
 

 
South Preston State School - grade 5 - 1933.  

(Maurice front row third from left with Joyce Sherratt (centre - 
white dress) 

 
With Joyce Sherratt and my cousins David and Michael Hedger - 

Feb 2015 

After I returned from Holland I was contacted by 
email by Nick Thomson who is Sgt David Evans 
grandson. He told me that David Evans had been 
to Holland several times after the war to revisit the 
crash  site  but  sadly  died  in  2014.  Nick  sent  me  
some photos, documents and log books.  
 
Amongst his things Nick found a silk 
blouse that had been made from his salvaged 
parachute by one of the women in Holland who 
saw the plane crash.   It  was a gift  to Sgt  Evans in 
June 1964 when he returned to Holland. 
 

 
Silk blouse made from Sgt David Evans parachute. 
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Time for reflection. 
 

brother. He was also a RAAF pilot and died in 1971 
when I was only young.  
 
My fathers need for closure about what happened 
Maurice in Holland has probably been the main 
motivation for my perseverance over the years to 
uncover his story. 
 
At the outset I knew very little other than some 
sketchy  family  recollections  and  what  was  
available at the Australian War Memorial.  My 
grandparents are no longer alive and most of the 
key letters sent to the family have been lost. 
 
Access to the historical documents on the 
Australian National Archives and other 
information internet together supported by those 
with an interest in the subject has enabled me to 
fill  out  many of  the details  of  what happened to 
Maurice. 
 
Discovering that Maurice refused a parachute and 
continued  to  fly  the  burning  plane  to  allow  his  
mates to parachute to safety was an unimaginably 
brave thing for him to have done. He was only 21 
year old. 
 

touching. I was overwhelmed with the response of 
the townsfolk of Vorstenbosch to my visit. 
 
Meeting the surviving eye witnesses, the 
Verhoeven family and the Smolenaer brothers was 
particularly special. Listening to their chilling 
stories, that as young children they witnessed 
Maurice pull  back on the controls  of  his  plane at  
the last minute to avoid hitting their home then 
lose airspeed and crash into the ground in a ball of 
flame  had  been  very  traumatic  for  them.   The  
Verhoeven family are convinced they are alive 
today because of his actions and wanted to 
personally thank me for his bravery and sacrifice. 
 
It became clear to me during my day at 
Vorstenbosch and even more apparent in the 
weeks after that Operation Market Garden in 1944 
is incredibly significant to the Dutch people and is 
part  of  their  modern  cultural  identity.  It  marked  

their liberation after four harsh years of German 
occupation during WW2.   
 
The  crash  site  and  the  actions  of  the  Maurice  
remain relevant to this day and represent an 
important touchstone for the community. They 
have commemorated these events for many years 
and value its significance as a local war memorial 
as evidenced by the village windmill being put in 
the mourning position as a tribute in September. 
 
The wonderful drawings done especially for me by 
the local school children are a testament to the 
significance they place on their freedom.  very 
pleased  that  the  Australian  flag  and  photo  of  
Maurice  I  gave  now  takes  pride  of  place  in  their  
classroom. 
 
More importantly, my visit created a human 
connection and a unique link to Australia for the 
local community. For the people of Vorstenbosch, 
Maurice is now no longer just foreign airmen that 
came from the other side of the world and died 
trying to free them but he became a person, with 
a family and a face. 
 
Significantly, the local municipality responded by 
mounting the commemorative plaque in their 
council chambers and wrote a letter of support for 
a posthumous bravery award for Maurice. 
 
The bent propeller in the Typhoon Museum was 
amazing  to  see  and  touch  and  the  pieces  of  

I brought back home including the 
engine parts and ice skates I will treasure. 
 
The national TV coverage exposed this story to so 
many people and I am very grateful to Nick 
McCallum from Channel 7 for his sensitive and 
professional handling of the material about 
Maurice. 
 

here in Australia topped it all off. 
 
There were so many wonderful people I met on my 
journey of discovery.  I never imagined when I 
started that his story would be so rich and one that 
just keeps on giving. 
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So now what? 
 
I plan to write the Australian Government seeking 
a review of the case for a posthumous bravery 
award for my uncle Maurice. 
 
The main reasons I believe that my uncle warrants 
reconsideration for a bravery award are: 
 
1. Maurice and the crew continued to bravely fly 

their Short Stirling Bomber on its supply 
mission into Oosterbeek even after  it  was hit  
by flak and on fire. 

2. On banking out to return to England the plane 
was again hit by flak and the wing and fuselage 
exploded into flame and Maurice ordered the 
crew to abandon the stricken aircraft. 

3. Significantly, Maurice refused a parachute that 
was offered to him by the navigator Flt Sgt 
John Hume to allow others of the aircrew to 
escape the burning aircraft. 

4. Maurice stayed at the controls of the stricken 
plane  flying  for  a  further  50  km  to  the  south  
before crashing in a Dutch farm at 
Vorstenbosch. 

5. Eye witness accounts tell that Maurice 
deliberately pulled back on the controls at the 
last minute while trying to land, lost airspeed 
and crashed heavily into a field bursting into 
flame. His actions to avoid hitting the 
Verhoeven  family  home  saved  the  lives  of  a  
family of seven people including five young 
children. 

6. 
particular significance to the local community 
in Vorstenbosch as evidenced by my visit in 
2014 and by the letter of support from the 
Mayor of the Municipality Bernheze.  

7. Maurice was one of only 13 Australian airmen 
killed in Operation Market Garden and I 

contribution to this historic WW2 battle 
deserves better recognition. 

8. When considered alongside other feats of 
bravery that occurred such as Flight Lieutenant 
David  Samuel  Anthony  Lord,  Royal  Air  Force,  
who received the Victoria Cross in similar 
circumstances only a day before on 19 
September 1944. 
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Summary of key dates. 
 

9 July 1923 Born in St Kilda. Son of Augustus and Annie May McHugh. 
 Educated and South Preston Primary School and Northcote High school. 

Circa 1941 Law Clerk  Rigby and Fielding, Melbourne. 
26 October 1941 Joins Air Force Reserve. 

27 February 1942 Joins RAAF (age 18 years 6 months). 
27 February 1942 4 Initial Training School - Victor Harbour, South Australia. 

25 June 1942 11 Elementary Flying Training School  Benalla, Victoria. 
26 October 1942 6 Service Flying Training School - Mallala, South Australia. 
5 February 1943 Wings Flight Sergeant. 

6 March 1943 Embarked for England from Melbourne  arrives Halifax in April 1943. 
April 1943  6 June 1944 Further flight training and conversion to Short Stirling Bomber and glider 

towing. 
7 May 1945 Commissioned as Pilot Officer RAF. 
6 June 1944 Posted to 620 squadron on D-Day  Part of Operation Tonga. 

June  September 25 Special Operation Executive (SOE) missions into France, 620 squadron. 
17 September 1944 Day 1, Sunday, Operation Market Garden, tow horsa glider into Arnhem from 

RAF Fairford. 
19 September 1944 Day 3, Tuesday  Resupply mission to Arnhem.  
20 September 1944 Day 4, Wednesday Resupply mission to Oosterbeek, shot down by flak. 

Aircraft crashed at the Verhoeven farm at Vorstenbosch around 1700 hrs. 
Maurice and rest of the crew killed. 
Bodies taken to Nistelrode for burial. 

20 -24 September 1944 Three airmen Hume, Gasgoyne and Evans make their way back to England 
with help of Dutch resistance. 

23 September 1944 Telegram to McHugh family in Australia advising Missing in Action . 
24 September 1944 Airmen Hume, Gasgoyne and Evans make official statements at RAF Fairford. 

Feb 1945  June 1945 Various letters to and from air ministry trying to find out status of Maurice 
1945 Letter from Flt Sgt Nick Gascoyne to McHugh family in Australia giving his 

account of the crash (letter missing). 
6 May 1945 Letter from my grandmother, Annie May McHugh, to air ministry with 

reference to the first hand account from Flt Sgt Gascoyne. 
15 June 1945 . 

30 March 1950 Advice that  moved to Groesbeek war cemetery. 
December 1977 Wreckage recovered from Verhoeven farm and parts taken to Airbase Volkel. 
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Attachments. 
1. Original statements from Gasgoyne, Evans and Hume  

September 1944 
2. Telegram to McHugh Family - 23 September - 1944 
3. Letter  12 February 1945 
4. Letter  21 February 1945 
5. Letter  4 April 1945 
6. Letter  10 April 1945 
7. Letter from Annie May McHugh  6 May 1945 
8. Letter 17 May 1945 
9. Letter - 15 June 1945 
10. Letter  8 April 1949  
11. Letter - 30 March 1950 
12. Account by the Flight Engineer, Sergeant Evans in Dennis 

Williams Book (1980) 
13. Two articles from Dutch newspapers about recovery of 

wreckage in 1977  
14. Three newspaper articles from my visit to Vorstenbosch in 2014  
15. Statement from Verhoeven family  October 2014 
16. Statement from Smolenaer brothers  November 2014  
17. Letter of support Marieke Moorman, Mayor, Municipality of 

Bernheze 
18. DVD  with three TV news stories done by Nick McCallum from 

channel 7 Melbourne: 
 Thursday, 4 September 2014 - evening news - before I 

departed for Holland. 
 Saturday, 20 September 2014 evening news - after meeting 

community at Vorstenbosch. 
 Sunday, 21 September 2014 - - longer 

version 
19. The plaque 
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Attachment 1   
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Attachment 2  Telegram 23 Sept 1944 
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Attachment 3  Letter 12 Feb 1945 
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Attachment 4  Letter 21 Feb 1945 
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Attachment 5 Letter 4 April 1945 
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Attachment 6 Letter 10 April 1945 
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Attachment 7 - Letter from Grandma - 6 May 1945 
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Attachment 8  Letter 17 May 1945 
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Attachment 9  Letter 15 June 1945 
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Attachment 10  Letter 8 April 1949 
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Attachment 11  Letter 30 March 1950 
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Attachment 12   
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Attachment 13  Dutch newspaper 1977 
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Attachment 14  Dutch newspaper articles 2013 



P a g e | 61 
 

 

 
 



P a g e | 62 
 

 
 
  



P a g e | 63 
 

Attachment 15  Verhoeven family statement 
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Statement from the Smolenaer brothers  received November 2014 

Beste Peter , 
Hier een verhaal van twee jongens uit Vorstenbosch 
,toen 11 en 12 jaar oud ,die U willen  vertellen wat 
zij  hebben gezien op een Woensdagmiddag 20 
September in 1944. 
Op die middag waren wij op  het veld voor de boerderij 
van Jan Van Uden aardappelen aan het rapen. 
Het was ongeveer 5 uur in de middag toen wij uit 
Noordelijke richting ,dus vanuit richting Nistelrode 
,een brandend vliegtuig zagen naderen. 
Wij zagen mensen per parachute het vliegtuig 
verlaten. 
Maar volgens ons sprongen er iets later nog meer 
mensen ,maar het vliegtuig was toen al zo laag ,zodat 
ze door het vliegtuig werden meegezogen. 
Het vliegtuig ,dat steeds meer hoogte verloor , kwam 
recht richting de boerderij van Bertus Verhoeven , een 
gezin van 7 personen. 
Op het laatste moment is het de piloot, die dus niet uit 
het vliegtuig was gesprongen,gelukt het vliegtuig iets 
op te trekken,zodat het maar net over de boerderij 
vloog. 
De piloot heeft naar onze mening ,door zijn eigen 
leven te geven, het leven van het gezin Verhoeven 
gered. 
Op nog geen honderd meter voorbij de boerderij is het 
vliegtuig toen neergestort . 
Wij waren op amper 200 meter ,zie situatieschets ,van 
de plaats waar het vliegtuig neerkwam. 
Wij zijn ,jong als we waren , en geen gevaar kende, 
meteen richting het vliegtuig gelopen maar moesten 
op ongeveer 50 meter van het vliegtuig in een sloot 
dekking zoeken voor al de munitie die ontplofte. 
De tijd erna gingen we elke dag even kijken naar de 
plaats waar het vliegtuig was gevallen . 
Wij hebben toen ook gezien hoe zuster Emmanuel , die 
wij goed kende, de stoffelijke resten, een voet in een 
schoen een hand ,en veel meer resten verzamelde in 
een kist. 
Wij zijn blij dat wij nu na 70 jaar aan U ons  verhaal 
nog kunnen vertellen. 
Wij vinden dat de piloot van dit vliegtuig alleen al voor 
deze heldendaad , die hij met zijn leven heeft moeten 
bekopen,alsnog de hoogste onderscheiding heeft 
verdiend. 
Mede door het  heldhaftig optreden van  deze zeer 
jonge Australische piloot kunnen wij al vele jaren in 
vrijheid leven. 

Dear Peter , 
Here's a story of two boys from VorstenBosch , then 
11 and 12 years old, who want to tell you what they 
have seen on Wednesday 20 September 1944 . 
 
On that afternoon we were on the field for the farm 
of Jan Van Uden potatoes to the turnips. 
It was about five o'clock in the afternoon when we 
looked out toward the north, so from the direction 
Nistelrode , a burning plane approaching . 
We saw people leave the aircraft by parachute. 
But in our little later jumped more people, but the 
plane was already so low, so they were sucked into 
the plane. 
The plane, an increasing amount lost, came right 
towards the farm of Bertus Verhoeven, a family of 7 
people. 
At the last moment it is the pilot, who had not 
jumped out of the plane, managed to draw 
something, so it just flew over the farm. Plane 
The pilot, in our opinion, by giving his own life, the 
life of the family Verhoeven saved. 
The plane is less than one hundred meters past the 
farm when crashed. 
We were less than 200 meters, see situation sketch 
of the place where the plane came down . 
We are young as we were, and knew no danger, 
walked straight to the plane but had about 50 
meters of the aircraft in a ditch for cover for all the 
ammunition exploded. 
The time we went after each  look at the place 
where the plane had fallen. 
We then also seen Sister Emmanuel , whom we knew 
well, the remains, a foot in a shoe by hand , and 
much more remains collected in a coffin. 
We are pleased to be able to tell you now after 70 
years our story. 
We believe that the pilot of this aircraft still has 
earned. The highest award alone for this heroic act , 
he had to pay with his life , 
We can live for many years partly due to the heroic 
efforts of these very young Australian pilot in 
freedom. 
Finally MAURICE McHugh THANKS ON BEHALF OF 
THE ENTIRE POPULATION OF VORSTENBOSCH 
With cordial greetings from VorstenBosch 
The Brothers Toin and Jan Smolenaers 

Attachment 16  Smolenaer brothers statement 
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Tot slot  MAURICE McHUGH  BEDANKT NAMENS HEEL 
DE BEVOLKING VAN VORSTENBOSCH 
Met de hartelijke groeten uit Vorstenbosch 
De Gebroeders Toin en Jan Smolenaers 
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Attachment 17  Letter of support 
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Attachment 18  The plaque 


